STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 47359-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

NORBERT SCHLECHT

Appellant,

v.

CLARK COUNTY WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Norbert Schlecht, Pro Se Appellant 7704 NW Anderson Ave. Vancouver, WA 98665 (360) 356-5657

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. The trial court erred in its order dated October 10, 2014 finding at summary judgment that the County (Clark) does not possess records responsive to the Petitioner's (Norbert Schlecht) public records request under Washington's Public Records Act and that the search the County conducted for such records was reasonable and in good faith.

B. The Appellant is entitled to reasonable attorney fees (if applicable) and costs as prevailing party in his Public Records lawsuit.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. Did the trial court err in its order dated October 10, 2014 finding at summary judgment that the County (Clark) does not possess records responsive to the Petitioner's (Norbert Schlecht) public records request under Washington's Public Records Act and that the search the County conducted for such records was reasonable and in good faith?

B. Is the Appellant entitled to reasonable attorney fees (if applicable) and costs as prevailing party in his Public Records lawsuit?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The case is a Public Records Act (PRA) case, governed by Chapter 42.56 RCW. It was commenced by Mr. Schlecht, pro se, as a resident of Clark County,

Washington. The primary issue on appeal addresses the question of whether the respondent Clark County established at summary judgment that it had conducted a reasonable and in good faith search of requested public records. There was no issue of the vagueness of the request. Clark County simply claimed that it had not discovered any records responsive to the public records request.

On October 10, 2014, the Honorable Suzan L. Clark, Judge of the Clark County Superior Court, granted Clark County's motion for summary judgment. CP 88-89.

On November 8, 2013, Mr. Schlecht made a public records request to the Clark County Sheriff's Office (CCSO), pursuant to Chapter 42.56 RCW, in efforts to learn the identities of certain individuals engaged in activity referred to as "casing the neighborhood". CP 14. The basis of the public records request is a CRESA 9-1-1 document. CP 15-17. With a letter dated 11/22/2013, the CCSO responded that such entity does not have documents that are responsive to Mr. Schlecht's request. CP 18-19.

On November 27, 2013, Mr. Schlecht appealed the initial determination encouraging the entity to expand its search vis-à-vis format of records and jurisdiction. CP 20. With a letter dated 12/18/2013, the CCSO responded that such entity had not discovered any records responsive to Mr. Schlecht's request.

CP 21.

As Mr. Schlecht at this point had exhausted his administrative remedies, he filed a lawsuit for disclosure of public records. CP 3-26. The focus of Mr. Schlecht's complaint of non-compliance with the Act's requirements is primarily two-fold: inadequate search by the agency (CP 6, lines 17-20); and bad faith exhibited by the agency (CP 10, lines 5-7). Mr. Schlecht limited his lawsuit to items 2)A) and 2)B) of subject public records request. CP 4, lines 18-19.

Offered in respondent Clark County's motion for summary judgment is the declaration of Mary Ann Gentry. CP 37-39. In such she describes her records search as yielding no responsive records to include confirmation that the names of the relevant individuals were never obtained by responding CCSO deputies O'Dell and Smyth. CP 38, lines 4-5. This statement however is contradicted by an email authored by CCSO Deputy Eric O'Dell more than one hundred days after subject 5/9/2013 event confirming that at least one of the relevant individuals had been "id'd" (identified). CP 62.

Subject declaration of Ms. Gentry also insists that Mr. Schlecht's 11/8/2013 public records request was not received by the CCSO until 11/20/2013. CP 37, lines 26-27. In his response to Clark County's motion for summary judgment, Mr. Schlecht in great detail (CP 53, line 11 - CP 54, line 6), supported by relevant

documentation (CP 68-74), disproves such assertion. The fact that Mr. Schlecht's public records request was not responded to in a timely manner does not necessarily indicate bad faith on the part of the agency. It is the deliberate backdating of documents (plural) that casts a shadow of bad faith over the entire process.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of review for the motion for summary judgment.

The standard of review of a summary judgment is de novo review.

Morris v. McNichol, 83 Wn.2d 491, 519 P.2d 7 (1974). RCW 42.56.550 (3);

Spokane Research and Defense Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005).

In the summary judgment context, the movant bears the burden of establishing the absence of a genuine dispute regarding any material fact.

Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn. 2d 658, 958 P.2d 301 (1998).

In assessing a motion for summary judgment the Court must view the facts in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, in this instance, Mr. Schlecht.

Homeowners Association v. Tydings, 72 Wn.App. 139, 864 P.2d 392 (1993). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the non-moving party. Tabak v. State, 73 Wn.App. 691, 870 P.2d 1014 (1994). A

summary judgment of dismissal of this lawsuit is sustainable only if there are no genuine issues of material fact. <u>Homeowners</u>, supra at 154. The party resisting summary judgment must present some evidence, even inconsistent evidence, which will support the existence of a material issue of fact. <u>Yuan v. Chow</u>, 92 Wn.App. 137, 960 P.2d 1003 (1998); <u>Barnes v. McLennod</u>, 128 Wn.2d 563, 810 P.2d 469 (1996).

The burden lies with the moving party to show the absence of material facts as to the various claims. Safeco Insurance v. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383, 823 P.2d 499 (1992); Nicholson v. Deal, 52 Wn.App 814, 764 P.2d 1007 (1988). Where issues of fact are presented, a court may not decide a factual issue unless reasonable minds can reach only one conclusion from the evidence presented. Hooper v. Yakima County, 79 Wn.App. 770, 904 P.2d 1183 (1995).

The generalized structure for viewing summary judgments seems clear. Clark County, as movant, had the burden, with regard to the facts and the law, to establish the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.

B. Principles applicable to Public Records Act requests.

Washington's Public Records Disclosure Act provisions, as amended from time to time, constitute a "strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records." <u>Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe</u>, 90 Wn.2d 120, 123, 127, 580 P.2d 246 (1978).

The public records statues place the onus on the governmental agency which is responding to a public records request to provide those records "unless those records fall within the specific exemptions of ... this chapter or other statues which prevents or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records." RCW 42.56.070 (1); Mechling v. City of Monroe, 152 Wn. App.830, 814, 222 P.3d 808 (2009). Washington courts are instructed to construe liberally the disclosure provisions of the Act and to construe narrowly its exemptions.

Progressive Animal Welfare Society v. University of Washington, 125 Wn. 2d 243, 25, 884 P.2d 594, 92 (1994).

A public record is statutorily defined as:

"Any writing containing information relating to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary function prepared, owned, used, retained by State or local agency regardless of physical form or characteristics."

RCW 42.56.010 (3)

The Act defines a "writing" as:

"handwriting, typewriting, printing, photostating, photographing, and every other means of recording any form of communication or representation including, but not limited to letters, words, pictures, sounds, or symbols, or combination thereof, and all papers, maps, magnetic or punched cards, discs, drums, diskettes, sound recordings, and other documents including existing date compilations from which information may be obtained or translated."

RCW 42.56.010 (4).

When a request for public records is made, the recipient agency has few options: provide the records, acknowledge receipt of the request and provide a reasonable estimate of the time it would take to provide the records, or deny the request. RCW 42.56.520.

C. The trial court erred in finding that the investigative search for public records requested by Norbert Schlecht under Washington's Public Records Act was a reasonable search as a matter of law.

On November 8, 2013, Mr. Schlecht made a public records request for documents in possession of the CCSO. He requested the following: "Identity records to include not limited to last name, first name, date of birth. Any/all records identifying subjects initially described as "WM 30S CARRYING GAS CAN, SIGNALING A WF CURLY RED HR M20S BRO SHIRT BJS" as follows: A) PER search completed at 05/09/13 07:37:07 B) PER search completed at 05/09/13 07:50:30." CP 14. There was no request for clarification of the request. Mr. Schlecht therefore had met the burden of requesting "identifiable public records". RCW 42.56.080. Hangartner v. City of Seattle, 151 Wn.2d 439, 448, 90 P.3d 26 (2004). This has been described as "a reasonable description enabling the governmental employee to locate the requested records".

Bonamy v. City of Seattle, 92 Wn. App. 403, 410, 960, P. 2d 447 (1998);

Hangartner, supra at 448; Wood v. Lowe, 102 Wn. App. 872, 878, 10 P.3d 494 (2000). The public entity has the burden of conducting a reasonable investigation for identifiable public records. If a request is too vague, the agency can request clarification. Hangartner, supra at 447, 448. In this case however, there was no argument of confusion or vagueness over the description of records requested. What was at issue in the case was whether or not the agency conducted a reasonably sufficient search for identified public records.

The bone of contention is reduced to the question of whether for purposes of summary judgment, the movant Clark County sustained its burden of establishing that its search for its own records was "reasonable beyond a material doubt".

Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. County of Spokane, 153 Wn.App. 241, 224 P.3d 775 (2009); review granted 168 Wn. 2d 1036-43, 233 P.3d 889 (2010).

Since the trial court in its (amended) order granting summary judgment (CP 88-89) does not present any independent conclusions we must look at the underlying motion for summary judgment (CP 27-48). In such, the movant agency states "they (Sheriff's Office) also confirmed that the names of "WM carrying gas can" or "WF curly (red) HR" were never obtained by either deputy" CP 28, lines 15-17. Also, "Clark County never obtained any information

regarding the identity of "WM carrying gas can" or "WF curly (red) HR"". CP 29, lines 23-24. Additionally, "the County doesn't have the underlying data ... the County made an extensive search and found no information regarding the identity of (subjects)". CP 34, lines 15-19. Finally, "the investigating officers never obtained the actual names of (subjects)". CP 34, lines 21-22. All of the above is contradicted by an email authored by one of the investigating officers (CP 62), quote: "She was id'd (identified)". This email was provided to Clark County prior to subject June 13, 2014 motion for summary judgment.

In his July 3, 2014 response to Clark County's motion for summary judgment, Mr. Schlecht challenged Clark County to "produce a declaration authored by Deputy O'Dell stating whether or not he is able to retrieve the identity of the redhead". CP 56, lines 2-3. Clark County in its July 11, 2014 reply falsely interprets such challenge as a request to create a new (public) record. CP 81, line 11. The challenge however does not refer to the initial public records request but to the declaration in support of summary judgment.

As to adequate search, in this case, the movant party used as its compass the case of Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. County of Spokane, 153 Wn. App.241, 224 P.3d 775 (2009); review granted 168 Wn. 2d 1036-43, 233 P.3d 889 (2010). Relying for assistance upon federal case law interpreting

analogous federal legislation, the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 U.S.C. ¶ 552 (1970), the Washington court held that a PRA search must be "judged by a standard of reasonableness in construing the facts in the light most favorable to the requestor." <u>Ibid.</u>, at 257, citing <u>Citizens Comm'n on Human Rights v. Food and Drug Amin.</u>, 25 F.3d 1325, 1328 (9th Cir. 1995).

The standard at summary judgment was stated by the court: "An agency fulfills its obligations under the PRA if it can demonstrate beyond a material doubt that its search was 'reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents." Neighborhood Alliance, supra., at 257 citing Weisberg v. U.S.

Dep't of Justice, 745 F.2d 1476, 1485 (D.C. Cir. 1984), quoting Weisberg v. U.S.

Dep't of Justice, 705 F.2d 1344, 1350-1351 (D.C. Cir. 1983). The Neighborhood Alliance court noted also that the methods used in conducting a search must be "reasonably expected to produce the information requested". Ibid at 257, citing Oglesby v. U.S. Dep't of the Army, 920 F.2d 57, 68 (D.C. Cir. 1990).

The methodology employed in this case, as well as the contours of the search protocol are challenged by Mr. Schlecht. Mr. Schlecht considers Clark County's decision not to pursue the lead vis-à-vis Deputy O'Dell to amount to an inadequate search. Hence there exists a genuine issue of material fact.

D. Appellant is entitled to attorney fees (if applicable) and costs.

Attorney fees and costs are awarded on appeal pursuant to RAP 18.1 (a). Those fees (if applicable) and costs are requested by Mr. Schlecht.

CONCLUSION

The Public Records Act and case law interpreting that Act provide clear direction that cognizable public records shall be made available to a requestor who makes a request for identifiable records. The Act does not require that the requestor take the lead in locating the records requested. In the present case, Mr. Schlecht provided what information was necessary to effect a reasonable and comprehensive search of the records of Clark County. What emerged in this case was evidence that the respondent failed to conduct an adequate search overshadowed by acts of bad faith.

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. Schlecht respectfully urges that summary judgment was improperly granted in this case and that this matter should be remanded to the trial court for further proceedings.