I. INTRODUCTION

In this appeal, which follows his unsuccessful Motion for

Summary Judgment and Motion for Reconsideration and, most recently, 

his inability to provide material evidence sufficient to overcome Defendant

Clark County' s Motion for Summary Judgment, Norbert Schlecht

hereinafter " Schlecht ") continues his efforts to obtain records that are

not, and never have been, in the possession of Clark County. Schlecht

refuses to accept that Clark County simply does not have the records he

requests and continues to assert various conspiracy theories, including

record tampering, and further, demands the County create new records to

satisfy his request. The material evidence on record, however, illustrates

that on the contrary, Clark County made a comprehensive and good faith

effort to locate responsive records, but that it simply does not have any. 

tzmpt to use the-Public Records Att-to acquire

records that do not exist, Schlecht alleges that the trial court erred in

concluding that the evidence shows beyond a material doubt that Clark

County made a good faith and reasonable effort to locate responsive

documents. The record does not support Schlecht' s characterization of the

trial court' s findings, nor does applicable law support his claim that Clark

County must produce requested records when it does not have them. For
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the reasons that follow, the trial court' s order dismissing Schlecht' s suit

should be affirmed. 

II. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENT OF E 0' r ORS

A. The Trial Court Correctly Granted Defendant' s Motion
for Summary Judgment Pursuant to CR 56. 

B. Appellant is Not Entitled to Recover Attorney Fees in
This Action. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal stems from a public records request by Schlecht dated

November 8, 2013 to the Clark County Sheriff' s Office seeking 1) 

a] ny /all records identifying vehicle owners" for specific license plates

Schlecht listed on his request; and 2) " any /all records identifying subjects

initially described as WM 30 S carrying gas can signaling a WF curly HR

M 20 S Bro shirt BJ as follows: a) PER completed at 5/ 9/ 13 7: 37: 07; and

b) PER search completed 7: 50: 30." 

Petitioner' s request for a PER, or person, search was received by the

Sheriff s Office on November 20, 2013. 2 Upon receipt, its Records Unit

CP 79, lines 20 -28; CP 83. 

2 CP 79, lines 26 -28. Defendant notes that Plaintiff contends this record was `backdated." 

There is absolutely no evidence supporting this contention, which is consistent with
Schlecht' s other unsubstantiated theories he has expounded to the trial court and in this

appeal. Further, although Schlecht asserts that the received date was " backdated," he has

not argued as a basis for appeal that the County' s response was untimely. Indeed, the

Footnotes continued on the next page. 
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reviewed the Clark Regional Emergency Services Agency (hereinafter

CRESA 911") transcript attached to Schlecht' s request and identified the

responding officers to the May 9, 2013, 911 call as Deputy O' Dell and

Deputy Smyth.' The Sheriff' s Office Records Department then checked

both officers' logs, which showed that neither had filed a report.' They

also confirmed that the name of "WM carrying gas can" or " WF curly HR" 

were never obtained by either Deputy.' The Sheriff' s Office also ran the

name of the person who called 911 to report the May 9, 2013 incident to

make sure the neither officer had filed a report on the May 9, 2013 call

under the name of the caller, rather than the suspects.' None of these

searches turned up any responsive documents.' The Sheriff' s Office then

took the further step of calling CRESA 911, which is a regional public

safety agency independent of Clark County, and verified that the PER

search done by the 911 operator on the " WF curly HR" and " WM carrying

gas can" was done on those identical search parameters and not by name, 

material evidence shows that the Sheriff's Office Records Unit received the request on

November 20, 2013, and responded within the five -day window, as required by the Public
Records Act. See RCW 42.56.520. 

3 CP 80, lines 1 - 3. 
4 CP 80, lines 3 -4. 

CP 80, lines 4 -5. 

6 CP 80, lines 6 -8. 
7 CP 80, lines 8 -9. 
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and that CRESA records, in fact, do not contain the actual names of these

individuals.' 

On November 22, 2013, the Sheriff's Office responded to

Schlecht' s public records request by informing him it had no responsive

records.9 Schlecht then wrote to the Sheriff' s Office on November 27, 

2013 demanding, "[ i]f your position is that records do not exist under your

jurisdiction then please advise which agency holds requested records. "10

On December 18, 2013, MaryAnn Gentry, the Sheriff' s Office

Public Records Unit supervisor, wrote to Schlecht, confirming that Clark

County had no responsive records but, to the extent Schlecht was seeking

vehicle owner identity, he could obtain that information from the

Washington State Department of Licensing." Nine days later, Schlecht

filed a lawsuit in Clark County Superior Court alleging Clark County

violated the Public Records Act by not producing records identifying the

names of the individuals that were the subject of the May 9, 2013 911

call. 12 On March 12, 2014, Schlecht filed a Summary Judgment Motion, 

8 CP 80, lines 11 - 16. 
9 CP 80, lines 17 -19; CP 85. 
10 CP 80, lines 19 -21; CP 88. 
111 CP 80, lines 23 -26; CP 90. 
12 CP 3 -27. 
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which was heard and argued on April 11, 2014. 13 In its Response to

Schlecht' s Summary Judgment Motion, Clark County submitted a

declaration from MaryAnn Gentry which outlined the comprehensive steps

her office had taken to locate records responsive to Schlecht' s public

records request. 14 In what he described as a " smoking gun" in his response

brief and at oral argument, Schlecht cited an email from Deputy O' Dell

that the deputy sheriff sent in response to the inquiry from Schlecht. 15 In

his email, Deputy O' Dell confirmed that in responding to the May 13, 

2013, 911 call, he spoke with a woman at the scene but did not file a

report.16

In both his briefing and at oral argument, Schlecht posed several

theories of what he assumed " probably" happened at the scene." Finding

his theories were suppositions, rather than facts, and were not in the record

before her nor supported by any document he submitted, the trial court

denied Schlecht' s Motion for Summary Judgment.' 8 On May 2, 2014

Schlecht filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which was also denied by the

13 CP 38 -64

14 CP 79 -90; see also County' s Response Brief CP 68 -78. 
15 CP 94 lines 5 -7; CP 110, lines 19 -22; CP 113, lines 18 -25; CP 114, lines 1 - 2. 
16 CP 100; CP 110, lines 19 -21. 
17 CP 115 line 4 -9. 
18 CP 115, lines 2 -25; CP 116, lines 1 - 10; CP 119. 
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trial court. 19 Clark County then filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on

June 13, 2014, which Schlecht responded to on July 3, 2014.20 The

hearing, which Schlecht failed to appear for, was held on July 18, 2014, at

which time the trial court granted Clark County' s Motion for Summary

Judgment.21 Schlecht now appeals the trial court' s dismissal of this

lawsuit. 

IV. GUMENT

A. Standard of Review. 

1. Standard of Review for Summary Judgment. 

The standard of review of an order of summary judgment is de

novo and the appellate court performs the same inquiry as the trial court. 

Jones v. Allstate Ins. Co., 146 Wn.2d 291, 300, 45 P. 3d 1068 ( 2002). See

also, Highline Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Port ofSeattle, 87 Wn.2d 6, 15, 548

P. 2d 1085 ( 1976); Mahoney v. Shinpoch, 107 Wn.2d 679, 683, 732 P. 2d

510 ( 1987). Summary judgment is proper if the records on file with the

trial court show " there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and " the

moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." CR 56( c). 

19 CP 121 - 132; CP 133 -134; CP 167. 
20 CP 142 -163; CP 168 -198. 
21 CP 203; CP 204. 
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The purpose of a summary judgment is to avoid a useless trial

when there is no genuine issue of any material fact. Olympic Fish Prods., 

Inc. v. Lloyd, 93 Wn.2d 596, 602, 611 P. 2d 737 ( 1980). On review of a

summary judgment, this Court must decide whether the affidavits, facts, 

and record have created an issue of fact and, if so, whether such issue of

fact is material to the cause of action. Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas

Corp., 91 Wn.2d 345, 352, 588 P. 2d 1346 ( 1979). Therefore, the adverse

party must set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial

or the summary judgment, if appropriate, will be entered against them. CR

56( e); see also, LaPlante v. State, 85 Wn.2d 154, 158, 531 P. 2d 299

1975). 

The appellate court, like the trial court, construes all evidence and

reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. 

Barber v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 81 Wn.2d 140, 142, 500 P. 2d 88

1972); Keck v. Collins, 181 Wn. App. 67, 325 P. 3d 306 ( 2014). But the

nonmoving party "may not rely on speculation, argumentative assertions

that unresolved factual issues remain, or having its affidavits considered at

face value;" instead, after the moving party submits adequate affidavits, 

the nonmoving party must set forth specific facts that sufficiently rebut the

moving party's contentions and disclose that a genuine issue as to a
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material fact exists. Seven Gables Corp. v. MGM /UA Entm' t Co., 106

Wn.2d 1, 13, 721 P. 2d 1 ( 1986). 

2. Standard of Review for Actions Brought under

the Public Records Act. 

The Court interprets the disclosure provisions of the Public

Records Act liberally and exemptions narrowly. Progressive Animal

Welfare Soc' y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d. 243, 251, 884 P. 2d 592

1994) ( PAWS II). The agency claiming the exemption bears the burden of

proving that the documents requested fall within the scope of the

exemption. RCW 42.56. 550( 1) ( " The burden of proof shall be on the

agency to establish that refusal to permit public inspection and copying is

in accordance with a statute that exempts or prohibits disclosure in whole

or in part of specific information or records "); Cowles Publ'g Co. v. 

Spokane Police Dep' t, 139 Wn.2d 472, 476, 987 P. 2d 620 ( 1999). 

Judicial review of an agency' s denial is governed by statute: 

Upon the motion of any person having been denied an
opportunity to inspect or copy a public record by an agency, 
the superior court in the county in which a record is
maintained may require the responsible agency to show
cause why it has refused to allow inspection or copying of a
specific public record or class of records. The burden of

proof shall be on the agency to establish that refusal to
permit public inspection and copying is in accordance with
a statute that exempts or prohibits disclosure in whole or in

part of specific information or records. 
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RCW 42. 56. 550( 1). The court' s review is de novo and any hearing may

be conducted solely upon affidavits. RCW 42. 56. 550( 3). 

Once documents are determined to be within the scope of the

Public Records Act, disclosure is required. Dawson v. Daly, 120 Wn.2d

782, 789, 845 P. 2d 995, 1000 ( 1993). Responses to requests for public

records are required to be made within five business days of receiving a

public record request, by either ( 1) providing the record; ( 2) providing an

internet address and link on the agency's web site to the specific records

requested; ( 3) acknowledging that the agency has received the request and

providing a reasonable estimate of the time the agency will require to

respond to the request; or (4) denying the request. Additional time required

to respond to a request may be based upon the need to clarify the intent of

the request or to determine whether any of the information requested is

exempt and that a denial should be made as to all or part of the request. 

See RCW 42.56.520. 

B. Schlecht Failed to Perfect the Record for Review. 

As Appellant, Schlecht has the burden of perfecting the record on

appeal so that this Court has before it the information and evidence

relevant to the issues that are presented for consideration. Schlecht' s brief

omits any mention of the Motion for Summary Judgment he filed on
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March 12, 2014, four months before Clark County moved for Summary

Judgment, as well his Motion for Reconsideration of the denial of his

summary judgment motion, which he filed on May 2, 2014. 22 These

motions resulted in extensive briefing by both sides. By omitting any

mention of these proceedings in his appeal, Schlecht has failed to disclose

the entire evidentiary record the trial court reviewed prior to dismissing his

lawsuit. 

Appellate courts have refused to consider issues where the

appellant fails to perfect the record on appeal. Wash. RAP 9.2; see also, 

Erdman v. Chapel Hill Presbyterian Church, 156 Wn. App. 827, 838 -39, 

234 P. 3d 299 ( 2010) ( court held appellant bears the burden of perfecting

the record so that the reviewing court has before it all the evidence

relevant to the issue and matters and matters not in the record will not be

considered). In the present matter, the trial court considered evidence that

was not disclosed by Schlecht to this Court. His failure to disclose all the

evidence considered by the trial court should result in dismissal of his

appeal. 

22 The remaining record has now been designated by Clark County. Because these records
were filed before most of the records designated by Plaintiff, the County anticipates the
Clerk will count the entire record sequentially. Accordingly, the county has numbered all
of its citations to the record sequentially by sub number; if however the Clerk' s numbering
differs, Clark County requests that it be permitted to file a brief that conforms with the
Clerk' s numerical designations. 
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C. The Trial Court Correctly Granted Defendant' s Motion
for Summary Judgment Pursuant to CR 56. 

1. Clark County met its burden of showing that the
search it conducted was reasonable and in good

faith, but yielded no responsive records. 

First, as will be discussed in further detail, infra, Schlecht appears

to argue that because Clark County submitted a declaration from MaryAnn

Gentry, the Sheriff' s Office Records Unit supervisor, which outlined the

search her department had conducted in order to locate responsive records, 

Clark County was required to obtain a declaration from the deputy who

responded to the 911 call. Gentry' s declaration, however, was not created

to comply with the public records search, but rather, to document how that

search had been conducted. In Public Records Act cases, the agency' s

burden is to establish beyond material doubt the reasonableness of its

search for documents, and to do so it may rely on reasonably detailed

affidavits submitted in good faith. See Neighborhood Alliance ofSpokane

Clark County v. Spokane Clark County, 172 Wn.2d 702, 720 -21, 261 P. 3d

119 ( 2011). 

In the present case, Clark County presented to the trial court the

declaration of MaryAnn Gentry, which detailed the extensive search her

office undertook to locate records responsive to Schlecht' s request. These

steps included: 1) reviewing the CRESA 911 transcript attached to
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Schlecht' s request; 2) identifying and contacting the responding officers

to the May 9, 2013, 911 call; 3) checking both officer' s logs, which

showed that neither had filed a report; 4) confirming that the names of

WM carrying gas can" or " WF curly HR" were never obtained by either

deputy; 5) running the name of the person who called 911 to report the

May 9, 2013 incident to make sure that neither officer had filed a report on

the May 9, 2013 call under the name of the caller, rather than the suspects; 

and 6) calling CRESA 911 and verifying that the person search done by

the 911 operator on the " WF curly HR" and " WM carrying gas can" were

done on those identical search parameters, not by name, and that CRESA

records, in fact, do not contain the actual names of these individuals." 

Only after the County completed the above - described search did it

conclude it had no responsive records. 

The trial court reviewed this procedure three separate times, during

Schlecht' s Motion for Summary Judgment, his Motion for

Reconsideration and County' s Motion for Summary Judgment and

determined each time that the search satisfied the requirements of the

Public Records Act and applicable case law. 

23 CP 79 -81. 
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Finally, Clark County notes that in his Motion for Summary

Judgment, Schlecht attached a public records response he received from

Clark County regarding a subsequent public records request he made in

January of 2014, on a different matter in which a police report was made

and filed. Since a report had been made and, therefore, could be produced, 

it was provided by Clark County to Schlecht. The material evidence in the

record, therefore, shows that when Clark County has records responsive to

Schlecht' s public records requests, they are produced. In the present case

however, the investigating officers never obtained the actual names of

WM carrying gas can" or "WF curly HR ", they never filed a report and

even CRESA 911 does not have the names of the aforementioned

individuals; thus, Clark County has no records to produce. 

2. Washington law provides that Clark County has
no duty to provide records that do not exist. 

In his Response in Opposition to Clark County' s Motion for

Summary Judgment, Schlecht requested that the trial court order Clark

County to create a new record; specifically demanding that it procure a

written statement from the officer about his response to the 911 call in

order to " challenge Clark County to back up its statement. i24 In this

24 CP 174 lines 20 -21. 
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appeal, Schlecht cites as evidence of an inadequate search " the county' s

refusal to pursue a lead vis a vis Deputy O' Dell. "25 While Schlecht asserts

Clark County " falsely interprets such challenge as a request to create a

new public records," there is nothing " false" about this interpretation.26

By

asking the County to have Deputy O' Dell create a new document

explaining his actions on the date in question, that is exactly what Schlecht

is requesting and is contrary to the requirements of the Public Records

Act.27 The trial court did not err in so ruling. 

First, County notes that while Schlecht continues to attempt to

force Clark County to create new records in response to his public records

request, and that the County' s refusal to do so is " bad faith," Schlecht fails

to cite any legal authority as the basis for this request.
28 "

Where no

authorities are cited, the court may assume that counsel, after diligent

search, has found none." Grant County v Bohne, 89 Wn.3d 953, 95, 577

P. 2d 138 ( 1978). 

25 See Appellant' s Opening Brief, page 15, paragraph 3. 
26 See Appellant' s Opening Brief, page 14, paragraph 2. 
27 Further, asking Clark County to create new evidence so that he can continue to pursue
his claim does not meet Schlecht' s burden of raising a material issue of fact sufficient to
defeat a CR 56 motion. Moreover, to the extent Schlecht believed the officer had

material evidence sufficient to defeat the county' s motion, it was his burden to obtain it, 
not the County' s. 
28 See Appellant' s Opening Brief, page 16, paragraph 2. 
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Indeed, it is well settled in Washington that, on the contrary, " an

agency has no duty to create or produce a record that is nonexistent." Bldg. 

Indus. Ass 'n of Wash. v. McCarthy (BIAW), 152 Wn. App. 720, 734, 218

P.3d 196 ( 2009) ( quoting, Sperr v. City ofSpokane, 123 Wn. App. 132, 

136 -37, 969 P. 3d 1012 ( 2004)). Further, " purely speculative claims about

the existence and discoverability of other documents will not overcome an

agency affidavit which is accorded a presumption of good faith." Forbes v

City ofGold Bar, 171 Wn. App. 857, 867, 288 P. 3d 384, 389 ( 2012) 

quoting, Trentadue v. FBI, 572 F. 3d 794, 808 (
10th

Cir. 2009)) review

denied, 177 Wn.2d 1002 ( 2013). 

In Smith v. Okanogan Clark County, 100 Wn. App. 7, 994 P. 2d

857 ( 2000), the Court addressed the same situation as in the present case. 

In Smith, the petitioner submitted a public records request to various

departments of Okanogan County. After conducting a search, Okanogan

County produced some records and responded that the rest of the requested

records did not exist. Petitioner filed a complaint and respondent moved

for dismissal on the grounds that it could not produce records it did not

have. The trial court dismissed the lawsuit and Court of Appeals affirmed

the dismissal, finding, 
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The County argues that several of Smith' s requests were for
records that did not exist. No Washington case has decided

whether a duty to create an otherwise nonexistent document exists
under RCW 42. 17. But there is federal law on the issue. The

Washington Public Disclosure Act closely parallels the federal
Freedom of Information Act and judicial interpretations of that Act

are, therefore, particularly helpful in construing our own. Hearst
Corp., 90 Wn.2d at 128, 580 P. 2d 246; see also, Dawson v Daly, 
120 Wn.2d 782, 791, 845 P. 2d 995 ( 1993). Under the Freedom of

Information Act, an agency is not required to create a record which
is otherwise nonexistent. See National Labor Relations Bd. V

Sears, Roebuck & Co., 421 U. S. 132, 161 -62, 95 S. Ct. 1504

1975). We agree and determine there is no such duty under the
State Act. 

Smith at 13 -14. 

In Smith, the petitioner requested indexes and charts that did not

exist, but which could have been prepared from existing data. Even

though Okanogan County had the information from which the requested

documents could have been created, the Court held that the county had no

duty to prepare something it didn' t already have. In the present case, Clark

County doesn' t even have underlying data that could have been the basis

of the requested records, let alone any responsive documents. Clark

County made a reasonable search but found no information regarding the

identity of "WM carrying gas can" or "WF curly HR" information, even

after it searched outside Clark County by contacting CRESA 911. 
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D. Schlecht is Not Entitled to Recover Attorney Fees in

This Action. 

Apparently anticipating that the Court will order the production of

nonexistent records after Clark County has expended significant time and

resources complying with his records requests and responding to his

frivolous lawsuit, Schlecht, who has appeared pro se throughout the entire

proceeding, requests an award of attorney fees. This Court has already

addressed the issue of whether pro se litigants may recover attorney fees, 

however, and has held that they cannot. Specifically, in In re marriage of

Brown, 159 Wn.App. 931, 247 P. 3d 466 (2011), the court addressed the

issue of whether a pro se litigant could be awarded attorney fees post -trial. 

In denying this request, the Brown court held, "[ w] e previously explained

that lawyers who incur fees representing themselves should be awarded

attorney fees where fees are otherwise justified because they must take

time from their practices to prepare and appear as any other lawyer would. 

Leen v. Demopolis, 62 Wn.App. 473, 486 -87, 815 P. 2d 269 ( 1991). But

no Washington case extends this reasoning to a nonlawyer pro se litigant." 

Brown at 938. 
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E. Defendant Should be Awarded Reasonable Attorney
Fees for Having to Defend This Frivolous Action. 

This appeal does not present an arguable basis for relief from

judgment. The trial court has already reviewed the evidence in the record

on three separate occasions and determined each time that the County' s

record search was reasonable and done in good faith. Schlecht' s continued

allegations that Clark County' s search somehow was not reasonable are

based on unsubstantiated allegations. This Court should award attorney

fees as a sanction for Schlecht' s actions. An action or motion is frivolous

if there are no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ

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